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PART I 
 

General 

Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the State of North Carolina on August 19, 2000, at the direction of the Board of 
Directors of Carolina Bank, for the purpose of serving as the bank holding company of Carolina Bank. The bank exchanged all of its outstanding 
shares of capital stock for shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis, thereby making us its sole shareholder and bank holding company. 
Our corporate office is located at 528 College Road, Greensboro, North Carolina. 

Carolina Bank is a North Carolina chartered bank, which incorporated in August 1996 and began banking operations in November 1996. The bank’s 
main banking office is located at 2604 Lawndale Drive, Greensboro, North Carolina. 

At December 31, 2007, we had 89 full-time equivalent employees.  

Business of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. and Carolina Bank 

Our only function is the ownership of all of the issued and outstanding stock of the bank and ownership of all of the issued and outstanding 
common securities of Carolina Capital Trust, a Delaware business trust formed in December 2004 for the purpose of selling $10,000,000 of trust 
preferred securities. We do not engage in any separate lines of business other than those of the bank. The bank engages in a general banking 
business in Guilford, Alamance and Randolph Counties, North Carolina. Its operations are primarily commercially oriented and directed to 
individuals and small to medium-sized businesses located in its market area and its deposits and loans are derived primarily from customers in its 
geographic market. The bank provides most traditional commercial and consumer banking services, including personal and commercial checking 
and savings accounts, money market accounts, certificates of deposit, individual retirement accounts and related business and individual banking 
services. The bank’s lending activities are concentrated in commercial lending but also include commercial loans to small-to-medium sized 
businesses located primarily in its market area for various purposes, and various consumer-type loans to individuals, including installment loans, 
credit card products, mortgage loans and equity lines of credit. The bank started a wholesale mortgage loan division in 2007 to originate residential 
loans through third-party brokers and banks and to sell these loans at a profit to institutional investors. The bank does not provide the services of 
a trust department, but invested in a trust bank in 2004 that provides trust services to community bank customers. 

Primary Market Area 

The bank’s primary service area consists of the Cities of Greensboro, High Point, Burlington and Asheboro, North Carolina and the areas 
immediately surrounding Greensboro, High Point, Burlington and Asheboro, all of which are located in Guilford, Alamance and Randolph 
Counties, North Carolina. In addition, a loan production office was opened in Winston-Salem, North Carolina in February 2008.  

Competition 

Commercial banking in the bank’s primary service area and in North Carolina as a whole is extremely competitive with state laws permitting state-
wide branching. The bank competes directly for deposits in its primary service area with other commercial banks, savings banks, credit unions, 
agencies issuing United States government securities and all other organizations and institutions engaged in money market transactions. In its 
lending activities, the bank competes with all other financial institutions as well as consumer finance companies, mortgage companies and other 
lenders engaged in the business of extending credit. In Guilford County, 25 other commercial banks operate 137 full service offices, including all of 
the largest banks in North Carolina. In Alamance County, 15 other commercial banks operate 49 full service branch offices. In Randolph County, 15 
other commercial banks operate 44 full service branch offices. 

Interest rates, both on loans and deposits, and prices of services are significant competitive factors among financial institutions generally. Office 
location, office hours, customer service, community reputation and continuity of 
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personnel are also important competitive factors. Many of the bank’s competitors have greater resources, broader geographic markets and higher 
lending limits, and can offer more products and better afford and make more effective use of media advertising, support services and electronic 
technology than the bank. The bank depends on its reputation as a community bank in its local market, direct customer contact, its ability to make 
credit and other business decisions locally, and personalized service to counter these competitive disadvantages. 

Employees 

The bank employed 89 full-time equivalent employees at December 31, 2007. We do not have any officers or employees who are not also officers or 
employees of Carolina Bank. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We believe our relations with our 
employees to be good. 

Regulation 

We are extensively regulated under both federal and state law. Generally, these laws and regulations are intended to protect depositors and 
borrowers, not shareholders. To the extent that the following information describes statutory and regulatory provisions, it is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to the particular statutory and regulatory provisions. Any change in applicable law or regulation may have a material effect 
on our business. 

THE BANK HOLDING COMPANY ACT. We are a bank holding company within the meaning of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (“BHC 
Act”), as amended, and are required to register as such with the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. A bank holding company is 
required to file annual reports and other information regarding its business operations and those of its subsidiaries with the Federal Reserve 
Board. It is also subject to examination by the Federal Reserve Board and is required to obtain Federal Reserve Board approval prior to acquiring, 
directly or indirectly, more than 5% of the voting stock of any bank, unless it already owns a majority of the voting stock of such bank. 
Furthermore, a bank holding company must engage, with limited exceptions, in the business of banking or managing or controlling banks or 
furnishing services to or performing services for its subsidiary banks. One of the exceptions to this prohibition is the ownership of shares of a 
company the activities of which the Federal Reserve Board has determined to be so closely related to banking or managing or controlling banks as 
to be a proper incident thereto. 

STATE LAW. We are subject to extensive supervision and regulation by the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks. The Commissioner of Banks 
oversees state laws that set specific requirements for bank capital and regulate deposits in, and loans and investments by, banks, including the 
amounts, types, and in some cases, rates. The Commissioner supervises and performs periodic examinations of North Carolina-chartered banks to 
assure compliance with state banking statutes and regulations, and we are required to make regular reports to the Commissioner describing, in 
detail, our resources, assets, liabilities and financial condition. Among other things, the Commissioner regulates mergers and consolidations of 
state-chartered banks, the payment of dividends, loans to officers and directors, record keeping, types and amounts of loans and investments, and 
the establishment of branches. 

DEPOSIT INSURANCE. As a member institution of the FDIC, the bank’s deposits are insured up to a per depositor maximum of $250,000 for 
retirement accounts and $100,000 for all other accounts through the Deposit Insurance Fund administered by the FDIC, and each member 
institution is required to pay semi-annual deposit insurance premium assessments to the FDIC. The FDIC determines the bank’s deposit insurance 
assessment rates on the basis of four risk categories. The bank’s assessment is determined by a formula that ranges from 0.02% to 0.04% at the 
lowest assessment category up to a maximum assessment of 0.40% of the bank’s average deposit base, with the exact assessment determined by 
the bank’s assets, its capital and the FDIC’s supervisory opinion of its operations. The insurance assessment rate may change periodically and 
was significantly increased for all depository institutions during 2007. Increases in the assessment rate may have an adverse effect on the bank’s 
operating results. The FDIC has the authority to terminate deposit insurance. 

CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS. The federal banking regulators have adopted certain risk-based capital guidelines to assist in the assessment of the 
capital adequacy of a banking organization’s operations for both transactions reported on the balance sheet as assets and transactions, such as 
letters of credit, and recourse arrangements, which are recorded as off balance sheet items. Under these guidelines, nominal dollar amounts of 
assets and credit equivalent amounts of off balance sheet items are multiplied by one of several risk adjustment percentages which range from 0% 
for assets with low credit risk, such as certain U.S. Treasury securities, to 100% for assets with relatively high credit risk, such as business loans.  
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A banking organization’s risk-based capital ratios are obtained by dividing its qualifying capital by its total risk adjusted assets. The regulators 
measure risk-adjusted assets, which include off balance sheet items, against both total qualifying capital (the sum of Tier 1 capital and limited 
amounts of Tier 2 capital) and Tier 1 capital. “Tier 1,” or core capital, includes common equity, qualifying noncumulative perpetual preferred stock 
and minority interests in equity accounts of consolidated subsidiaries, less goodwill and other intangibles, subject to certain exceptions. “Tier 2,” 
or supplementary capital, includes among other things, limited-life preferred stock, trust preferred securities, hybrid capital instruments, mandatory 
convertible securities, qualifying subordinated debt, and the allowance for loan and lease losses, subject to certain limitations and less required 
deductions. The inclusion of elements of Tier 2 capital is subject to certain other requirements and limitations of the federal banking agencies. 
Banks and bank holding companies subject to the risk-based capital guidelines are required to maintain a ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted 
assets of at least 4% and a ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 8%. The appropriate regulatory authority may set higher capital 
requirements when particular circumstances warrant. As of December 31, 2007, we were well-capitalized with Tier 1 and Total Risk - Based Capital 
of 8.94% and 10.00%, respectively. 

The federal banking agencies have adopted regulations specifying that they will include, in their evaluations of a bank’s capital adequacy, an 
assessment of the bank’s interest rate risk exposure. The standards for measuring the adequacy and effectiveness of a banking organization’s 
interest rate risk management include a measurement of board of director and senior management oversight, and a determination of whether a 
banking organization’s procedures for comprehensive risk management are appropriate for the circumstances of the specific banking organization.  

Failure to meet applicable capital guidelines could subject a banking organization to a variety of enforcement actions, including limitations on its 
ability to pay dividends, the issuance by the applicable regulatory authority of a capital directive to increase capital and, in the case of depository 
institutions, the termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC, as well as the measures described under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
Improvement Act of 1991 below, as applicable to undercapitalized institutions. In addition, future changes in regulations or practices could further 
reduce the amount of capital recognized for purposes of capital adequacy. Such a change could affect our ability to grow and could restrict the 
amount of profits, if any, available for the payment of dividends to the shareholders. 

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF 1991. In December 1991, Congress enacted the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991, also known as FDICIA, which substantially revised the bank regulatory and funding provisions 
of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and made significant revisions to several other federal banking statutes. FDICIA provides for, among other 
things: 
 

 

 

 

 

FDICIA also provides for increased funding of the FDIC insurance funds and the implementation of risk-based premiums.  
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•   publicly available annual financial condition and management reports for certain financial institutions, including audits by independent 

accountants, 

  •   the establishment of uniform accounting standards by federal banking agencies, 

 
•   the establishment of a “prompt corrective action” system of regulatory supervision and intervention, based on capitalization levels, 

with greater scrutiny and restrictions placed on depository institutions with lower levels of capital, 

  •   additional grounds for the appointment of a conservator or receiver, and 

 
•   restrictions or prohibitions on accepting brokered deposits, except for institutions which significantly exceed minimum capital 

requirements. 
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A central feature of FDICIA is the requirement that the federal banking agencies take “prompt corrective action” with respect to depository 
institutions that do not meet minimum capital requirements. Pursuant to FDICIA, the federal bank regulatory authorities have adopted regulations 
setting forth a five-tiered system for measuring the capital adequacy of the depository institutions that they supervise. Under these regulations, a 
depository institution is classified in one of the following capital categories: “well capitalized,” “adequately capitalized,” “undercapitalized,” 
“significantly undercapitalized” and “critically undercapitalized.” An institution may be deemed by the regulators to be in a capitalization category 
that is lower than is indicated by its actual capital position if, among other things, it receives an unsatisfactory examination rating with respect to 
asset quality, management, earnings or liquidity. 

FDICIA provides the federal banking agencies with significantly expanded powers to take enforcement action against institutions which fail to 
comply with capital or other standards. Such action may include the termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC or the appointment of a receiver 
or conservator for the institution. FDICIA also limits the circumstances under which the FDIC is permitted to provide financial assistance to an 
insured institution before appointment of a conservator or receiver. 

GRAMM-LEACH-BLILEY ACT OF 1999. Effective March 11, 2000, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 allowed a bank holding company to qualify 
as a “financial holding company” and, as a result, be permitted to engage in a broader range of activities that are “financial in nature” and in 
activities that are determined to be incidental or complementary to activities that are financial in nature. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act amended the 
BHC Act to include a list of activities that are financial in nature, and the list includes activities such as underwriting, dealing in and making a 
market in securities, insurance underwriting and agency activities and merchant banking. The Federal Reserve Board is authorized to determine 
other activities that are financial in nature or incidental or complementary to such activities. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act also authorizes banks to 
engage, through financial subsidiaries, in certain of the activities permitted for financial holding companies. 

INTERNATIONAL MONEY LAUNDERING ABATEMENT AND FINANCIAL ANTI-TERRORISM ACT OF 2001. On October 26, 2001, the USA 
Patriot Act of 2001 was enacted. The act contained the International Money Laundering Abatement and Financial Anti-Terrorism Act of 2001, 
which set forth anti-money laundering measures affecting insured depository institutions, broker-dealers and other financial institutions. The Act 
requires U.S. financial institutions to adopt policies and procedures to combat money laundering and granted the Secretary of the Treasury broad 
authority to establish regulations and to impose requirements and restrictions on the operation of financial institutions. The act has not had a 
material adverse impact on our operations. 

CHECK 21. On October 28, 2003, President Bush signed into law the Check Clearing for the 21st Century Act, also known as Check 21. This law 
gives “substitute checks,” such as a digital image of a check and copies made from that image, the same legal standing as the original paper check. 
Some of the major provisions include: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

MISCELLANEOUS. The dividends that may be paid by us are subject to legal limitations. In accordance with North Carolina banking law, 
dividends may not be paid by the Bank unless its capital surplus is at least 50% of its paid-in capital.  
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  •   allowing check truncation without making it mandatory; 

 
•   demanding that every financial institution communicate to accountholders in writing a description of its substitute check processing 

program and their rights under the law; 

  •   legalizing substitutions for and replacements of paper checks without agreement from consumers; 

 
•   retaining in place the previously mandated electronic collection and return of checks between financial institutions only when 

individual agreements are in place; 

 
•   requiring that when accountholders request verification, financial institutions produce the original check (or a copy that accurately 

represents the original) and demonstrate that the account debit was accurate and valid; and 

 
•   requiring recrediting of funds to an individual’s account on the next business day after a consumer proves that the financial institution 

has erred. 
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Our earnings will be affected significantly by the policies of the Federal Reserve Board, which is responsible for regulating the United States 
money supply in order to mitigate recessionary and inflationary pressures. Among the techniques used to implement these objectives are open 
market transactions in United States government securities, changes in the rate paid by banks on bank borrowings, and changes in reserve 
requirements against bank deposits. These techniques are used in varying combinations to influence overall growth and distribution of bank 
loans, investments, and deposits, and their use may also affect interest rates charged on loans or paid for deposits. 

The monetary policies of the Federal Reserve Board have had a significant effect on the operating results of commercial banks in the past and are 
expected to continue to do so in the future. In view of changing conditions in the national economy and money markets, as well as the effect of 
actions by monetary and fiscal authorities, no prediction can be made as to possible future changes in interest rates, deposit levels, loan demand 
or our business and earnings. 

Recent Legislative Developments 

We cannot predict what legislation might be enacted or what regulations might be adopted, or if enacted or adopted, the effect thereof on our 
operations. 

 

Item not applicable to smaller reporting companies 

 

Item not applicable to smaller reporting companies 

 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our properties: 
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. 

OFFICE LOCATION   
YEAR

OPENED  

APPROX.
SQUARE

FOOTAGE   OWN/LEASE

Corporate Office         

528 College Road    2005   9,874    Own
Greensboro, NC         

Main Office         

2604 Lawndale Drive         

Greensboro, NC    2000   12,000    Own

Friendly Center Office         

3124 Friendly Avenue    1996   5,300    Lease
Greensboro, NC         

Jefferson Village Office         

1601 Highwoods Blvd.    2001   3,000    Own
Greensboro, NC         

        

Asheboro Office    2003   5,800    Own
335 S. Fayetteville Street         

Asheboro, NC         
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As of December 31, 2007, there were no pending material legal proceedings to which we are a party, or of which any of our property is the subject, 
that, if decided adversely to us, could have a material adverse financial effect. 

 

There were no matters submitted to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.  
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High Point Office    2007    4,500    Own
4010 Brian Jordan Blvd.        

High Point, NC        

Burlington Office        

3214 South Church Street    2007    5,800   Own
Burlington, NC        

Downtown Greensboro        

101 N. Spring Street    2008(1)  40,000   Own Building
Greensboro, NC         Lease Land

Winston-Salem Office        

1590 Westbrook Plaza Drive    2008    1,500    Lease
Suite 103        

Winston-Salem, NC        

(1) Currently under construction and scheduled to open during 2008. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. 
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PART II 
 

Market Summary 

Our common stock is listed for quotation on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “CLBH.” As of February 25, 2008, we had issued and 
outstanding 3,342,966 shares of common stock which were held by approximately 1,340 shareholders. 

No cash dividends were paid in 2007 or 2006. 

See Item 12 of this report for disclosure regarding securities authorized for issuance and equity compensation plans required by Item 201(d) of 
Regulation S-K.  

MARKET FOR THE COMMON STOCK 

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “CLBH.” The following table gives the high and low sale prices 
for the calendar quarters indicated. 
 

 

There were approximately 1,340 shareholders of our common stock at December 31, 2007. 

 

Not applicable to smaller reporting companies 
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES. 

      Sales Prices(1)

     High    Low

2007      

First Quarter    $14.12   $12.35
Second Quarter      13.70     12.79
Third Quarter      13.36     9.73
Fourth Quarter      12.00     10.00
2006      

First Quarter    $12.50   $ 7.92
Second Quarter      11.11     10.64
Third Quarter      12.28     10.72
Fourth Quarter      15.21     11.42

(1) Restated for the 6-for-5 stock split effected in the form of a 20% stock dividend in June 2007. 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA. 
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The following discussion is intended to assist in understanding our financial condition and results of operations. Because we have no 
material operations and conduct no business on our own other than owning our subsidiaries, Carolina Bank and Carolina Capital Trust, and 
because Carolina Capital Trust has no operations other than the issuance of its trust preferred securities, the discussion contained in this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis concerns primarily the business of Carolina Bank. However, for ease of reading and because the 
financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis, Carolina Bank Holdings and Carolina Bank are collectively referred to herein as 
“we”, “our”, or “us,” unless otherwise noted.  

Forward-looking Statements  
This report contains forward-looking statements with respect to our financial condition and results of operations and business. These 

forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties and are based on our beliefs and assumptions and on information available at the time 
these statements and disclosures were prepared. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from those expected include the 
following: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Critical Accounting Policies 

Our accounting and financial policies are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and conform to 
general practices in the banking industry. The more critical accounting and reporting policies include our accounting for the allowance for loan 
losses. Our accounting policies relating to the allowance for loan losses involve the use of estimates and require significant judgment. These 
estimates are based on our opinion of an amount that is adequate to absorb losses in the existing loan portfolio. The allowance for loan losses is 
established through a provision for loan losses based on available information including the composition of the loan portfolio, historical loan 
losses, specific impaired loans, availability and quality of collateral, age of the various portfolios, changes in local economic conditions, and loan 
performance and quality of the portfolio. Different assumptions used in evaluating the adequacy of our allowance for loan losses could result in 
material changes in our consolidated financial condition or consolidated financial results of operations. The methodology we employ to determine 
the allowance for loan losses involves a number of assumptions and estimates about uncertain matters. We periodically review our assumptions 
and methodology. 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
•   General economic conditions may deteriorate and negatively impact the ability of our borrowers to repay loans and our depositors to 

maintain balances. 

  •   Changes in interest rates could reduce our net interest income. 

  •   Competitive pressures among financial institutions may increase. 

 
•   Legislative or regulatory changes, including changes in accounting standards, may adversely affect the businesses that we are 

engaged in. 

  •   New products developed and new methods of delivering products could result in a reduction in our business and income. 

  •   Adverse changes may occur in the securities market. 
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Stock Splits 

The Company issued 6-for-5 stock splits effected in the form of 20% stock dividends in 2007 and 2005. All per share amounts have been 
adjusted to retroactively reflect the stock splits. 

Comparison of Financial Condition 

Assets. Our total assets increased by $88.5 million or 21.5% from $411.6 million at December 31, 2006, to $500.1 million at December 31, 2007. 
During 2007, cash and due from banks increased slightly and investment securities decreased by $12.3 million to $62.4 million. We attempt to 
maintain adequate liquidity to meet our loan demand and other obligations. Loans held for investment increased by $85.1 million or 26.9% during 
2007. Carolina Bank, which makes both commercial and retail loans, continues to experience steady loan demand in its primary lending markets, 
Guilford, Randolph, and Alamance Counties, North Carolina. We started a wholesale mortgage loan division in 2007 to originate residential loans 
through brokers and banks and to sell these loans at a profit to institutional investors. At December 31, 2007, loans held for sale, which were 
originated by the wholesale mortgage division, totaled $11.9 million and were committed to be sold. A new office was completed in Burlington in 
2007 to replace our limited service branch. Our sixth office opened in High Point in January 2007. A loan production office was opened in Winston-
Salem in February 2008, and a new main office in Greensboro is currently under construction. 

Liabilities. Total liabilities increased by $84.8 million or 22.0% from $385.7 million at December 31, 2006, to $470.5 million at December 31, 
2007. Deposits increased by $58.2 million during 2007 as noninterest bearing demand and time deposits increased while money market deposits 
declined. We plan to continue our efforts to gain deposits through quality service, convenient locations, and competitive pricing. While deposit 
growth is an ongoing goal, wholesale sources of funding such as Federal Home Loan Bank advances and repurchase borrowings, may be utilized 
where cost beneficial and when necessary to meet liquidity requirements. Federal Home Loan Bank advances increased $22.7 million during 2007 to 
$31.6 million at December 31, 2007, supplementing our deposits and providing funding for our strong loan growth. We had approximately $22.2 
million in time deposits from other depository institutions and $20.1 million brokered time deposits at December 31, 2007, which in total did not 
change from December 31, 2006. 

Stockholders’ equity. Our total stockholders’ equity increased $3.7 million at December 31, 2007 to $29.6 million from $25.9 million at 
December 31, 2006 due to an increase in retained earnings and an increase in accumulated other comprehensive income resulting from appreciation 
of investment securities available-for-sale.  

Asset Quality 

Our non-performing assets, composed of foreclosed real estate, non-accrual loans and restructured loans, totaled $4,542,000 at December 31, 
2007, compared to $2,433,000 at December 31, 2006. Non-performing assets, as a percentage of total assets, were .91% and .59% at December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively. There were $465,000 and $0 loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing interest at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Foreclosed real estate was $1,001,000 and $0 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Net loan charge-offs totaled $528,000 and 
$508,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Two loan relationships secured by real estate represent the increase in non-performing assets in 2007.  
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The objective of our liquidity management is to ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to meet all financial commitments and to 
capitalize on opportunities for expansion. Liquidity management addresses our ability to meet deposit withdrawals on demand or at contractual 
maturity, to repay borrowings as they mature, and to fund new loans and investments as opportunities arise. 

Our primary sources of internally generated funds are principal and interest payments on loans receivable and cash flows generated from 
operations. External sources of funds include increases in deposits, repurchase agreements, federal funds purchased from banks and advances 
from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta. 

Carolina Bank is required under applicable federal regulations to maintain specified levels of liquid investments in qualifying types of 
investments. Cash and due from banks, federal funds sold, and investment securities available-for-sale are the primary liquid assets of Carolina 
Bank. We regularly monitor Carolina Bank’s liquidity position to ensure its liquidity is sufficient to meet its needs.  

We are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the banking regulatory agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital 
requirements can initiate mandatory and possibly discretionary actions by the regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on 
our financial condition. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, we must meet specific capital 
guidelines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting 
practices. Our capital amounts and classifications are subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk-weightings, and 
other factors. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, our levels of capital exceeded all applicable regulatory requirements. 

Results of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 

General. We had net income for the year ended December 31, 2007 of $3,024,000 or $.89 per diluted share, compared to net income for the 
year ended December 31, 2006 of $2,811,000 or $.83 per diluted share. Net interest income, the difference between interest earned on interest-
earning assets and interest incurred on interest-bearing liabilities, was $14.2 million in 2007 compared to $12.2 million in 2006, an increase of 16.3%. 
Non-interest income, principally service charges and fees, mortgage banking income, increase in cash value of life insurance, plus gain or (loss) on 
repossessed assets amounted to $1,729,000 in 2007 and $1,773,000 in 2006. Our provision for loan losses was $1,162,000 and $1,196,000 in 2007 and 
2006, respectively. We incurred non-interest expense of $9.9 million in 2007 and $8.4 million in 2006. The increase in non-interest expense of $1.5 
million or 18.5% was largely the result of increased growth. Income taxes increased $213,000, or 13.5%, in 2007 to $1,787,000 because income before 
income taxes increased by 9.7% in 2007. 

Net interest income. Net interest income is the amount of interest earned on interest-earning assets such as loans, investments, federal funds 
sold and deposits in other financial institutions less the interest expense incurred on interest-bearing liabilities such as interest-bearing deposits 
and borrowed money. Net interest income is the principal source of our earnings. Net interest income is affected by the general level of interest 
rates and the volumes and mix of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.  

For the year ended December 31, 2007, net interest income increased by $2.0 million or 16.3% to $14.2 million from $12.2 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2006. The increase in net interest 
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income was attributable to growth in all aspects of our business. Average interest-earning assets were approximately $431.9 million in 2007 
compared to $369.3 million in 2006, an increase of $62.6 million or 17.0%. We experienced significant loan and deposit growth during 2007 with 
average loans up $71.9 million or 25.1% and average deposits increasing $62.2 million or 17.4% from 2006. 

The net yield on interest-earning assets was 3.30% in 2007 and 2006. The interest rate spread was 2.84% in 2007 and 2006.  

The table below provides a detailed analysis of the effective yields and rates on the categories of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. 
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Rate/Volume analysis of net interest income. The effect of changes in average balances (volume) and rates on interest income, interest 
expense and net interest income for the period indicated is shown below. The effect of a change in the average balance has been determined by 
applying the average rate in the earlier period to the change in average balance in the later period, as compared with the earlier period.  
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     For the Years Ended December 31,  

      2007     2006  

    
Average

Balance (1.)  
Interest

Inc./Exp.  
Average

Yield/Cost   
Average

Balance (1.)  
Interest

Inc./Exp.  
Average

Yield/Cost 
     (Dollars in thousands)  

Interest-earning assets                 

Interest bearing deposits    $ 609   $ 32   5.25%  $ 684   $ 33   4.82%
Federal funds sold      3,806     187   4.91%    8,507     414   4.87%
Taxable Investments (2.)      65,695     3,160   4.81%    73,463     3,236   4.40%
Non Taxable Investments      3,241     201   6.20%    —       —     —   
Loans (3.)      358,575     29,172   8.14%    286,644     23,175   8.08%

Interest-earning assets      431,926     32,752       369,298     26,858  

Interest-earning assets          7.58%        7.27%

Non interest-earning assets      19,204          14,954     

Total assets    $ 451,130        $ 384,252     

Interest-bearing liabilities                 

Interest checking    $ 14,254     200   1.40%  $ 10,276     59   0.57%
Money market and savings      148,950     6,619   4.44%    139,213     6,194   4.45%
Time certificates and IRAs      198,596     10,074   5.07%    151,408     6,737   4.45%
Other borrowings      28,597     1,627   5.69%    30,119     1,679   5.57%

Total interest-bearing liabilities      390,397     18,520       331,016     14,669  

Cost on average                 

Interest-bearing liabilities          4.74%        4.43%

Non-interest-bearing liabilities                 

Demand deposits      29,314          26,493     

Other liabilities      3,878          2,578     

Total non-interest-bearing liabilities      33,192          29,071     

Total liabilities      423,589          360,087     

Stockholders’ equity      27,541          24,165     

Total liabilities and equity    $ 451,130        $ 384,252     

Net interest income       $ 14,232        $ 12,189  

Net yield on average interest-earning assets          3.30%        3.30%

Interest rate spread          2.84%        2.84%

(1.) Average balances are computed on a daily basis. 

(2.) Interest income and yields related to certain investment securities exempt from federal income tax are stated on a fully taxable basis using a 
34% federal tax rate, reduced by the nondeductible portion of interest expense. 

(3.) Nonaccrual loans are included in the average loan balance. 
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The effect of a change in the average rate has been determined by applying the average balance in the earlier period to the change in the average 
rate in the later period as compared with the earlier period. Changes resulting from average balance/rate variances have been allocated between 
volume and rate on a proportional basis. 
 

During the year 2007, the improvement in net interest income over 2006 was primarily the result of growth in interest-earning assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities.  

Provision for loan losses. The allowance for loan losses, established through charges to expense in the form of a provision for loan losses, 
allows for known and expected loan losses in our loan portfolio. The provision for loan losses decreased in 2007 to $1,162,000 from $1,196,000 in 
2006, primarily because watch list loans and related loan loss reserves declined in 2007. Watch list loans still accrue interest but generally require 
higher loan loss reserves due to greater risk or declining credit quality. The level of the allowance for loan losses is based on our estimate as to the 
amount required to maintain an allowance adequate enough to provide for known and expected losses. We consider, among other things, 
nonperforming loans, watch list loans, delinquencies, collateral value, loss trends, and general economic conditions when assessing the adequacy 
of the allowance. The allowance for loan losses was $4.5 million or 1.13% of loans held for investment and $3.9 million or 1.23% of loans at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The lower allowance at December 31, 2007 was due to fewer watch list loans and greater growth during 
2007 in the types of loans that require lower loan loss allowances. Charge-offs, net of recoveries, were approximately $528,000 and $508,000 during 
2007 and 2006, respectively. 
 

16 

    
Year Ended

December 31, 2007 vs. 2006  

    
Interest
Increase    

Increase (Decrease)
Due To Change in  

     (Decrease)    Rate     Volume  
     (Dollars in thousands)  

Interest-Earning Assets:       

Interest-Earning Deposits    $ (1)  $ 3    $ (4)
Federal Funds Sold      (227)    4      (231)
Taxable Investments      (76)    283      (359)
Non Taxable Investments      201      —        201 
Loans      5,997      145      5,852 

Total Interest-Earning Assets      5,894      435      5,459 
Interest-Bearing Liabilities       

Interest Checking      141      111      30 
Money Market and Savings      425      (8)    433 
Time Certificates and IRAs      3,337      1,034      2,303 
Other Borrowings      (52)    35      (87)

Total Interest-Bearing Liabilities      3,851      1,172      2,679 
Net Interest Income    $ 2,043    $ (737)  $ 2,780 
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The following table describes the activity relating to our allowance for loan losses for the years indicated: 

Analysis of the Allowance for Loan Losses 
 

Non-interest income. Other income consists principally of service charges and fees, mortgage banking income, investment services income, 
increase in cash value of life insurance, repossessed asset gains and losses, and dividends from other assets. Total other income for 2007 was 
$1,729,000 compared to $1,773,000 in 2006, a decrease of 2.5%. Mortgage banking income, which represents fees earned from the origination and 
sale of mortgage loans, rose 54.3% to $543,000 in 2007 from $352,000 in 2006. Mortgage banking income in 2007 included $261,000 in gains and fees 
from the wholesale mortgage division which began operations in the later half of 2007. Mortgage banking income from the retail operation was 
$283,000 in 2007 which was down $69,000, or 19.6%, from 2006. Repossessed asset losses were $14,000 in 2007 compared to gains of $183,000 in 
2006. The large repossessed asset gain in 2006 was primarily the result of the sale of a multifamily property securing a loan that had been partially 
written off in 2005. Investment services income, representing commissions earned from the sale of non-deposit products such as annuities and 
mutual funds, declined 22.6% to $164,000 in 2007 from $212,000 in 2006. Other non-interest income included $210,000 and $178,000 from the increase 
in cash value of life insurance in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Dividend income from an investment in a small business investment company 
recorded on the cost basis was $4,000 and $118,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The small business investment company became a publicly 
traded company in 2007, and the investment of $500,000 was transferred to investment securities available-for-sale from other assets, and income is 
included in net interest income. 

Non-interest expenses. Non-interest expenses were $9.9 million in 2007 compared to $8.4 million in 2006, an increase of $1.5 million or 18.5%. 
Salaries and employee benefits increased 25.2% to $5,344,000 in 2007 from $4,268,000 in 2006 to facilitate our growth. The number of full time 
equivalent employees rose to 89 at December 31, 2007 from 69 at the end of 2006. Occupancy and equipment rose 21.0% to $1,330,000 in 2007 from 
$1,099,000 in 2006 as a result of a new office in High Point which opened in January 2007 and from the completion of the new Burlington office in 
September 2007. During 2007, an impairment charge of $100,000 was recorded against an investment in a trust bank with an original cost basis of 
$305,000. 
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At or for the Year

Ended December 31  
     2007     2006  
     (Dollars in thousands)  

Beginning Balance    $ 3,898    $ 3,210 
Provision for loan losses      1,162      1,196 
Charge-Offs:     

Commercial      (153)     (23)
Real Estate      (392)     (486)
Consumer      (3)     (38)

Total      (548)     (547)
Recoveries:      —        —   

Commercial      18      11 
Real Estate      1      12 
Consumer      1      16 

Ending Balance    $ 4,532    $ 3,898 
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Income taxes. Income tax expense amounted to $1,787,000, or 37.1% of income before income taxes in 2007, and $1,574,000, or 35.9% of 
income before income taxes in 2006. The increased tax rate in 2007 primarily resulted from higher state income taxes. 

Financial condition. Total assets were $500.1 million at December 31, 2007, an increase of $88.5 million or 21.5% over total assets of $411.6 
million at December 31, 2006. Loans and premises and equipment increased. Funding for the asset growth came primarily from an increase in 
deposits, an increase in advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank, and a reduction in short-term investments. We have continued our 
aggressive promotion and pricing of deposit products in order to establish and build market share. We regularly evaluate our deposit product 
offerings and attempt to meet the needs of all types of customers through both new products and modifications to existing products. We had 
approximately $22.2 million and $11.1 million in deposits from other depository institutions and $20.1 million and $31.2 million of brokered deposits 
at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. 

The majority of our asset growth continues to occur in the loan portfolio. Loans held for investment increased $85.1 million or 26.9% from 
$315.7 million at December 31, 2006 to $400.8 million at December 31, 2007. In addition, loans held for sale increased by and to $11.9 million at 
December 31, 2007 as a result of the new wholesale mortgage division. We believe our targeted marketing efforts, experienced lenders, local 
decision making, and emphasis on personal relationships and superior customer service have been key drivers of the loan growth. Approximately 
81.9% of our loans at December 31, 2007 were secured by some form of real estate. At December 31, 2007 loans secured by one-to-four family 
residential properties comprised 18.0% of our loan portfolio while nonresidential properties, construction loans and multifamily residential 
properties comprised 39.4%, 17.8% and 6.7% of our loan portfolio, respectively. Another 17.0% were commercial loans with the balance in 
consumer and other loans. 

Asset quality is a primary concern of our credit administration. A thorough credit analysis is made of most loans before origination. 
Experienced lenders and a credit administrator review the loan’s structure including terms, rate, collateral and repayment sources in addition to 
adherence to our lending policy. On an ongoing basis, a risk rating program and other credit administration tools are utilized to monitor loans and 
overall asset quality. Non-performing loans amounted to approximately $3,541,000 or 0.88% of loans outstanding and $2,433,000 or 0.77% of loans 
outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our allowance for loan losses was 1.13% and 1.23% of loans outstanding at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Net loan charge-offs were .15% and .18% of average loans during 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

Investment securities declined to $62.4 million at December 31, 2007 from $74.7 million at December 31, 2006, a decrease of 16.4%. Some of the 
funds from maturing investments were used to fund loans in 2007 since loan growth was exceptionally strong and since new funding was required 
for our new wholesale loan originations. Our investment securities portfolio consists primarily of U.S. government agency securities, mortgage-
backed securities issued by the U.S. government and quasi U.S. government agencies, and municipal securities. Approximately 95.0% of the 
investment securities at December 31, 2007 were classified as available for sale and were recorded at market value. Changes in market value are 
reflected as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. We do not engage in the practice of trading securities.  

Other assets consist of interest receivable on loans and investments, prepaid expenses, deferred tax assets, real estate owned and cash value 
of life insurance. The increase in other assets of $0.7 million to $10.7 million at December 31, 2007 from $10.0 million at December 31, 2006 resulted 
primarily from growth in interest receivable and real estate owned. 
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We opened for business in November 1996 and have not paid any cash dividends to our stockholders. In November 2005 and June 2007, 6-
for-5 stock splits effectuated in the form of 20% stock dividends were paid to stockholders of record. Stock dividends were also paid in 2004, 2001 
and 2000. Certain reclassifications were made to common stock from other equity accounts to record the stock dividends. 

Investment Portfolio. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, our investment portfolio comprised approximately 12.5% and 18.1% of total assets, 
respectively. 

The following table summarizes the carrying value amounts of securities at the dates indicated. Available-for-sale securities are reported at 
estimated fair value and held to maturity securities are reported at amortized cost. 

Analysis of Investment Securities 
Amortized Cost and Market Values 
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     At December 31,
     2007    2006

    
Amortized

Cost   
Market
Value   

Amortized
Cost   

Market
Value

     (Dollars in thousands)

Available for Sale            

US agency securities    $ 8,847   $ 8,920   $ 26,581   $26,337
Mortgage-backed securities      38,455     38,649     43,625     43,503
Municipal securities      7,252     7,171     —       —  
Trust preferred securities      1,882     1,891     —       —  
Restricted stock      2,761     2,673     1,214     1,214

     59,197     59,304     71,420     71,054
Held to Maturity            

US agency securities      1,799     1,791     1,799     1,753
Mortgage-backed securities      1,334     1,294     1,838     1,764

     3,133     3,085     3,637     3,517
Total    $ 62,330   $62,389   $ 75,057   $74,571



Table of Contents

The following table presents maturities and weighted average yields of debt securities at the date indicated. 

Analysis of Investment Securities 
 

Loan Portfolio. We believe the loan portfolio is adequately diversified although heavily secured by real estate. There are no significant 
concentrations of loans to any particular individuals or industry, or group of related individuals or industries. There are no foreign loans. The 
following table presents, at the dates indicated, the composition of our loan portfolio by loan type: 

Analysis of Loans 
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     At December 31, 2007

    

Due One
Year or

Less    

One Year
Through

Five Years   

Five Years
Through

Ten Years    
Due After
Ten Years    Total    

Market
Value

     (Dollars in thousands)

Investment Securities             

US agency securities    $ 7,787    $ 1,440    $ 1,420    $ —      $10,647    $10,711
Mortgage-backed securities      172      1,530      11,034      27,052      39,788      39,943
Municipals securities      —        —        —        7,252      7,252      7,171
Trust preferred securities      —        —        —        1,882      1,882      1,891
Total    $ 7,959    $ 2,970    $ 12,454    $ 36,186    $59,569    $59,716

Weighted Average Yields             

US agency securities      3.42%    4.48%    4.62%    —        3.83% 

Mortgage-backed securities      4.65%    4.47%    5.15%    5.40%    5.30% 

Municipals securities      —        —        —        6.11%    6.11% 

Trust preferred securities      —        —        —        7.71%    7.71% 

     3.45%    4.47%    5.09%    5.67%    5.21% 

     At December 31,  
     2007     2006  
     Amount    Percent     Amount    Percent  
     (Dollars in thousands)  

Loans Secured by Real Estate:           

Construction and Land Development    $ 71,513   17.84%  $ 65,427   20.72%
1-4 Family Residential Properties      72,325   18.05%    65,453   20.73%
Multifamily Residential Properties      26,674   6.66%    17,021   5.39%
Nonfarm Nonresidential Properties      157,762   39.36%    105,290   33.35%

Total Loans Secured by Real Estate      328,274   81.91%    253,191   80.19%
Commercial and Industrial Loans      68,127   17.00%    58,421   18.50%
Consumer      2,942   0.73%    2,632   0.84%
All Other Loans      1,441   0.36%    1,488   0.47%
Total Loans Held for Investment    $400,784   100.00%  $315,732   100.00%
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The table that follows shows the loan portfolio at December 31, 2007 by loan type, maturity and whether the interest rate is fixed or variable. 
Loans on non-accrual have been excluded.  

Analysis of Certain Loan Maturities 
As of December 31, 2007 

 

A certain degree of risk is inherent in the extension of credit. We have established loan and credit policies designed to control both the types 
and amounts of risks assumed and to ultimately minimize credit losses. Such policies include limitations on loan-to-collateral values for various 
types of collateral, requirements for appraisals of certain real estate collateral, problem loan management practices and collection procedures, and 
non-accrual and charge-off guidelines.  

Loans secured by real estate mortgages comprised 81.9% and 80.2% of our loan portfolio at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
Residential real estate loans consist mainly of first and second mortgages on single-family homes. Loan-to-value ratios for these loans are 
generally limited to 90% for second mortgages and 85% for first mortgages, unless private mortgage insurance is obtained. Nonresidential loans 
are secured by business and commercial properties with loan-to-value ratios generally limited to 80%. The repayment of both residential and 
nonresidential real estate loans is dependent primarily on the income and cash flows of the borrowers with the real estate serving as a secondary 
source of repayment. Real estate construction loans generally consist of financing of commercial real estate projects and some one-to-four family 
dwellings. Usually the loan-to-cost ratios are limited to 80%, and permanent financing commitments are generally required prior to advancing loan 
proceeds. 

Commercial loans primarily represent loans to businesses and may be made on either a secured or unsecured basis. Commercial lending 
involves risk because repayment usually depends on the cash flows generated by a borrower’s business, and the debt service capacity of a 
business can deteriorate because of downturns in national and local economic conditions. To manage this risk, initial and continuing financial 
analysis of a borrower’s financial information is generally required.  

Allowance for loan losses. The allowance for loan losses is increased by direct charges to operating expense. Losses on loans are charged 
against the allowance in the period in which management has determined that such loans have become uncollectible. Recoveries of previously 
charged-off loans are credited to the allowance.  
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     Real Estate     Consumer     Commercial & Other     Total  
     Amount    Percent     Amount   Percent     Amount    Percent     Amount    Percent  
     (Dollars in thousands)  

Due within one year:    $122,575   37.69%  $ 1,067   39.67%  $ 34,045   49.09%  $157,687   39.70%
Due after one year through five years:                     

Fixed Rate      64,436   19.81%    1,199   44.57%    9,195   13.26%    74,830   18.84%
Variable Rate      62,074   19.09%    321   11.93%    20,098   28.98%    82,493   20.77%

     126,510   38.90%    1,520   56.51%    29,293   42.24%    157,323   39.60%
Due after five years:                     

Fixed Rate      37,025   11.39%    95   3.53%    644   0.93%    37,764   9.51%
Variable Rate      39,089   12.02%    8   0.30%    5,372   7.75%    44,469   11.19%

     76,114   23.41%    103   3.83%    6,016   8.67%    82,233   20.70%
   $325,199   100.00%  $ 2,690   100.00%  $ 69,354   100.00%  $397,243   100.00%
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Our allowance for loan losses is composed of two parts, a specific portion related to non-performing loans and a general section related to 
performing loans. The specific portion of our allowance for loan losses, which relates to problem loans, increased slightly to $447,000 at 
December 31, 2007 from $433,000 at December 31, 2006. The difference between our allowance for loan losses and the specific portion of the 
allowance for loan losses was $4,085,000 and $3,465,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These allowances apply to performing loans 
and were determined by applying estimated loss ratios inherent in the loan portfolio, ranging from .40% on residential real estate loans to 3.00% on 
non secured consumer revolving loans, to categories of performing loans at each period end. The general section also includes allowances for 
certain watch list loans which are still performing but carry a higher degree of risk because of declining credit factors. Watch list loans with higher 
than standard loan loss allowances decreased to $2.5 million at December 31, 2007 from $6.8 million at December 31, 2006 with related allowances 
declining to $138,000 from $271,000. A summary of our loan loss experience for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is presented under the 
previous section, Provision for loan losses. 

The following table presents the allocation of the allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2007 and 2006, compared with the percent of 
loans in the applicable categories of total loans. 

Allocation of the Allowance for Loan Losses 
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     At December 31,  
     2007     2006  

     Amount  

% 
Loans

in Each
Category    Amount  

% 
Loans

in Each
Category 

     (Dollars in thousands)  

Balance at end of period applicable to:           

Commercial    $ 1,012   17.00%  $ 1,118   18.50%
Real Estate      3,413   81.91      2,669   80.19 
Consumer      75   0.73      59   0.84 
All Other Loans      32   0.36      52   0.47 
Total    $ 4,532   100.00%  $ 3,898   100.00%
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Non-performing loans. When a loan is past due 90 days as to interest or principal or there is serious doubt as to collectability, the accrual of 
interest is generally discontinued unless the estimated fair value of the collateral is sufficient to assure the collection of the principal balance and 
accrued interest. A non-accrual loan is not returned to accrual status unless principal and interest are current and the borrower has demonstrated 
the ability to continue making payments as agreed. The following table sets forth information on non-accrual loans, restructured loans, total 
nonperforming loans, and nonperforming assets at the dates indicated: 

 

Deposits. The maturity distribution of time deposits of $100,000 or more at December 31, 2007 and 2006 is presented below. Such deposits 
may be more volatile and interest rate sensitive than other deposits. 
 

Interest rate sensitivity. Interest rate sensitivity management is concerned with the timing and magnitude of re-pricing assets compared to 
liabilities and is a part of asset/liability management. It is the objective of interest rate sensitivity management to generate stable growth in net 
interest income, and to control the risks associated with interest rate movements. We measure interest rate risk by using simulation analysis. 
Simulation analysis indicates, in the absence of growth or changes in the mix of assets and liabilities, our net interest income generally increases 
when short-term interest rates rise and declines when short-term interest rates fall. We have become more balanced in our asset/liability position 
over the past two years due to growth in our money market accounts which can re-price immediately upon changes in short-term interest rates as 
do approximately 68% of our loans which mostly change with the prime rate. While the net yield on interest–earning assets was stable at 3.30% for 
2007 and 2006, we experienced a decline to 3.08% in this ratio for the fourth quarter of 2007. Although the 1% decline in short term interest rates 
was the major reason for the net yield decrease in the fourth quarter, lower deposit pricing lagged the general interest rate trends in our market 
place and resulted in more net yield degradation than normal. 
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Non-Performing Assets  

     At December 31,  
     2007     2006  
     (Dollars in thousands)  

Nonaccrual loans    $ 3,541    $ 2,388 
Restructured loans      —        45 

Total nonperforming loans      3,541      2,433 
Real estate owned      1,001      —   

Total nonperforming assets    $ 4,542    $ 2,433 

Accruing loans past due 90 days or more    $ 465    $ —   
Allowance for loan losses      4,532      3,898 
Nonperforming loans to period end loans held for investment      0.88%    0.77%
Allowance for loan losses to nonperforming loans      127.99%    160.21%
Nonperforming assets to total assets      0.91%    0.59%

Certificates of Deposit in Amounts of $100,000 or More      

     At December 31,

Remaining maturity:    2007    2006
     (Dollars in thousands)

Three months or less    $29,214   $18,827
Over three through six months      20,692     14,916
Over six through twelve months      43,971     39,927
Over twelve months      3,637     12,044

   $97,514   $85,714
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The table below reflects the balances of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities at the earlier of their re-pricing or maturity dates. 
Investment security prepayments and calls are estimated based on current interest rates and could vary significantly if interest rates change. Fixed 
rate loans are reflected at their contractual maturity date and variable loans are reflected when the loans may be re-priced contractually. Interest-
bearing liabilities with no contractual maturity, such as interest-bearing transaction accounts and savings deposits are reflected in the earliest re-
pricing interval due to contractual arrangements which give the bank the opportunity to vary rates paid on these deposits within a thirty day or 
shorter period. The interest rate sensitivity of our assets and liabilities illustrated in the following table would vary substantially if different 
assumptions were used or if actual experience differs from that indicated by such assumptions. 
 

Return on equity and assets. The following table shows the return on assets (net income divided by average total assets), return on equity 
(net income divided by average equity), cash dividend payout ratio (cash dividends declared divided by net income), and equity to asset ratio 
(average equity divided by average total assets) for each period indicated. 
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     Repricing Schedule as of December 31, 2007  

    
0-90 
Days    

91-365 
Days    

More than
1 Year to
3 Years    

Over 3
Years     Total  

     (Dollars in Thousands)  

Interest-Earning Assets           

Interest-Bearing Deposits    $ 55    $ —      $ —      $ —      $ 55 
Investment Securities      2,830      14,002      12,822      33,211      62,865 
Loans held for sale      11,946      —        —        —        11,946 
Loans      259,826      15,060      31,277      91,080      397,243 

Total      274,657      29,062      44,099      124,291      472,109 
Interest-Bearing Liabilities           

Savings, NOW and Money Market      163,177      —        —        —        163,177 
Time Deposits      55,060      159,163      8,695      1,987      224,905 
Federal Home Loan Bank Advances      28,007      21      3,059      494      31,581 
Securities sold under

agreements to repurchase      3,452      —        —        —        3,452 
Federal Funds Purchased      2,650      —        —        —        2,650 
Trust preferred securities      10,310      —        —        —        10,310 

Total      262,656      159,184      11,754      2,481      436,075 
Interest Sensitive Gap    $ 12,001    $(130,122)   $ 32,345    $121,810    $ 36,034 

Cumulative Gap    $ 12,001    $(118,121)   $ (85,776)   $ 36,034    $ 36,034 

Ratio of Interest-Sensitive Assets 
to Interest-Sensitive Liabilities      104.57%    18.26%    375.18%    5009.71%    108.26%

Cumulative Ratio of Interest-Sensitive 
Assets to Interest-Sensitive Liabilities      104.57%    72.00%    80.22%    108.26%    108.26%
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Capital resources. Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. and Carolina Bank are subject to various regulatory capital adequacy standards. Under 
these standards, financial institutions are required to maintain minimum ratios of capital to risk-weighted assets and average total assets. Carolina 
Bank Holdings, Inc. and Carolina Bank exceeded all minimum capital requirements and met the requirements to be categorized as “well capitalized” 
at December 31, 2007 and 2006. Included in our regulatory capital, is $10.0 million in junior subordinated debentures which has been primarily 
invested in the Bank. 

Inflation. Since our assets and liabilities are primarily monetary in nature, our performance is more affected by changes in interest rates than 
by inflation. Interest rates generally increase as the rate of inflation increases, but the magnitude of the change in rates may not necessarily be the 
same. 

While the effect of inflation on a financial institution is normally not as significant as is its influence on those businesses which have large 
investments in plant and inventories, it does have an effect. During periods of high inflation, there are normally corresponding increases in the 
money supply, and financial institutions will normally experience above average growth in assets, loans and deposits. Also, general increases in 
the prices of goods and services will result in increased operating expenses. 
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For the Year

Ended December 31,  
     2007     2006  

Return on Average Assets    0.67%   0.73%
Return on Average Stockholders’ Equity    10.98%   11.63%
Dividend Payout Ratio    —      —   
Average Stockholders’ Equity as 

a Percentage of Average Assets    6.10%   6.29%
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Not applicable to smaller reporting companies 

 

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary 
Greensboro, North Carolina 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary (the “Company”) as of 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the 
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2007. The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our 
audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Carolina Bank 
Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the 
two-year period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. 

/s/ Cherry, Bekaert & Holland, L.L.P.

Raleigh, North Carolina
March 17, 2008
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Assets     

Cash and due from banks    $ 5,022    $ 4,983 
Securities available-for-sale, at fair value      59,304      71,054 
Securities held-to-maturity      3,133      3,637 
Loans held for sale      11,869      —   
Loans      400,784      315,732 
Less allowance for loan losses      (4,532)    (3,898)

Net loans      396,252      311,834 
Premises and equipment, net      13,792      10,078 
Other assets      10,744      10,006 

Total assets    $500,116    $411,592 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     

Deposits     

Non-interest bearing demand    $ 30,491    $ 26,984 
NOW, money market and savings      163,177      167,124 
Time      224,905      166,307 

Total deposits      418,573      360,415 
Advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank      31,581      8,908 
Federal funds purchased      2,650      1,574 
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase      3,452      2,031 
Junior subordinated debentures      10,310      10,310 
Other liabilities and accrued expenses      3,910      2,425 

Total liabilities      470,476      385,663 
Commitments (note 12)     

Stockholders’ equity     

Common stock, $1 par value; authorized 20,000,000 shares; issued
and outstanding 3,315,157 in 2007 and 3,266,866 in 2006      3,315      2,722 

Additional paid-in capital      15,379      15,597 
Retained earnings      10,875      7,851 
Stock in directors’ rabbi trust      (524)    (453)
Directors’ deferred fees obligation      524      453 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss      71      (241)

Total stockholders’ equity      29,640      25,929 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $500,116    $411,592 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Consolidated Statements of Income 

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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     2007     2006
     (in thousands, except per share data)

Interest income     

Loans    $ 29,172    $ 23,175
Investment securities, taxable      3,160      3,236
Investment securities, non taxable      140      —  
Interest from federal funds sold      187      414
Other      32      33

Total interest income      32,691      26,858
Interest expense     

NOW, money market, savings      6,819      6,253
Time deposits      10,074      6,737
Other borrowed funds      1,627      1,679

Total interest expense      18,520      14,669
Net interest income      14,171      12,189
Provision for loan losses      1,162      1,196
Net interest income after

provision for loan losses      13,009      10,993
Non-interest income     

Service charges      748      684
Mortgage banking income      543      352
Repossessed asset gains (losses)      (14)     183
Other      452      554

Total non-interest income      1,729      1,773
Non-interest expense     

Salaries and benefits      5,344      4,268
Occupancy and equipment      1,330      1,099
Professional fees      806      827
Outside data processing      607      575
Advertising and promotion      473      472
Stationery, printing and supplies      469      373
Impairment of non-marketable securities      100      —  
Other      798      767

Total non-interest expense      9,927      8,381
Income before income taxes      4,811      4,385
Income tax expense      1,787      1,574
Net income    $ 3,024    $ 2,811

Net income per common share     

Basic    $ 0.92    $ 0.86

Diluted    $ 0.89    $ 0.83
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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     Total   
Common

Stock   

Additional
Paid-In 
Capital    

Stock in
Directors

Rabbi
Trust    

Directors
Deferred

Fees
Obligation  

Retained
Earnings  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

     (in thousands)  

Balance, January 1, 2006    $22,787   $ 2,720   $ 15,580    $ (333)  $ 333   $ 5,040   $ (553)
Comprehensive income                   

Net income      2,811     —       —        —        —       2,811     —   
Other comprehensive income -                   

Unrealized gain on securities
available for sale, net of tax of $160      312     —       —        —        —       —       312 

Comprehensive income      3,123               

Directors deferred fees      —       —       —        (120)    120     —       —   
Exercised options      19     2     17      —        —       —       —   

Balance, December 31, 2006    $25,929   $ 2,722   $ 15,597    $ (453)  $ 453   $ 7,851   $ (241)

Comprehensive income                   

Net income      3,024     —       —        —        —       3,024     —   
Other comprehensive income -                   

Unrealized gain on securities
available for sale, net of tax of $161      312     —       —        —        —       —       312 

Comprehensive income      3,336               

Directors deferred fees      —       —       —        (71)    71     —       —   
Stock options exercised      372     49     323      —        —       —       —   
Stock options expensed      3     —       3      —        —       —       —   
6 for 5 stock split      —       544     (544)    —        —       —       —   

Balance, December 31, 2007    $29,640   $ 3,315   $ 15,379    $ (524)  $ 524   $10,875   $ 71 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Cash flows from operating activities     

Net income    $ 3,024    $ 2,811 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used for) provided by operating activities     

Provision for loan losses      1,162      1,196 
Depreciation      483      403 
Deferred income tax (benefit)      (190)    (271)
Impairment of non-marketable securities      100      —   
Amortization (accretion), net      (57)    (86)
(Gain) loss on sale of repossessed assets      14      (183)
Origination of loans held for sale, net of sales and gains      (11,869) 

Stock compensation expense      3      —   
Increase in other assets      (312)    (1,182)
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities      1,489      830 

Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities      (6,153)    3,518 
Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchases of investment securities available-for-sale      (14,394)    (33,735)
Maturities and calls of securities available-for-sale      19,062      22,335 
Repayments from mortgage-backed securities available-for-sale      8,114      5,375 
Repayments from mortgage-backed securities held-to-maturity      501      352 
Origination of loans, net of principal collected      (86,963)    (54,084)
Additions to premises and equipment      (4,208)    (2,753)
Proceeds from sales of assets      380      747 

Net cash (used for) investing activities      (77,508)    (61,763)
Cash flows from financing activities     

Net increase in deposits      58,158      54,081 
Borrowings from Federal Home Loan Bank      110,300      16,300 
Repayments to Federal Home Loan Bank      (87,627)    (28,692)
Increase in Federal funds purchased      1,076      1,574 
Increase (decrease) in securities sold under agreements to repurchase      1,421      (813)
Proceeds from exercised stock options, including tax benefits      372      19 

Net cash provided by financing activities      83,700      42,469 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      39      (15,776)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period      4,983      20,759 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period    $ 5,022    $ 4,983 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information     

Cash paid during the year for interest    $ 17,986    $ 14,084 

Cash paid during the year for income taxes    $ 1,158    $ 2,080 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions     

Transfer of loans to foreclosed assets    $ 1,383    $ 453 

Transfer of loans to fixed assets    $ —      $ —   
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies  
Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (the “Holding Company”) is a North Carolina corporation organized in 2000. In August 2000 pursuant to the plan of 
exchange approved by the shareholders of Carolina Bank (the “Bank”), all of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Bank were exchanged 
for shares of common stock of the Holding Company. The Holding Company presently has no employees. 

The Bank was incorporated in August 1996, and began banking operations in November 1996. It is engaged in lending and deposit gathering 
activities in Guilford, Alamance and Randolph Counties, North Carolina and operates under the laws of North Carolina, the Rules and Regulations 
of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks. The Bank has three locations in Greensboro and an 
office in Asheboro, Burlington, and High Point. A loan production office was opened in Winston-Salem in February 2008. All offices are in the 
Piedmont Triad region of North Carolina. 

The following is a description of the significant accounting and reporting policies that the Holding Company and Bank (collectively the 
“Company”) follows in preparing and presenting their consolidated financial statements.  

(a) Basis of presentation and consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Holding Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, the Bank. All 
significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

(b) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant 
change in the near term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses. 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(c) Securities 

Investments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt securities are classified at acquisition 
into one of three categories and accounted for as follows: 

 

 

 

The Company does not engage in any trading activities. Gains and losses on sales of securities are recognized on a specific identification 
basis. Purchases and sales of investments are recorded on a trade-date basis. Premiums and discounts are amortized into interest income 
using a method that approximates the level yield method. The investment in the Federal Home Loan Bank represents restricted stock which is 
carried at cost and is required for advances or borrowings. The amounts invested were $2,160,000 and $1,126,000 at December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively. 

(d) Loans held for sale 

Loans held for sale represent residential real estate loans originated by the wholesale mortgage division, which was formed in 2007. 
Generally, optional commitments to sell these loans are made shortly after origination commitments are entered into with borrowers. Loans 
held for sale are marked to market and gains or losses are recognized when loans are originated and again when sold, if necessary.  

(e) Loans and allowance for loan losses 

Loans are carried at their principal amount outstanding. Interest income is recorded as earned on the accrual basis. Loan origination fees and 
certain origination costs are capitalized with the net fee or cost recognized as an adjustment to interest income using the interest method.  
The Company uses the allowance method in providing for loan losses. The provision for loan losses is based upon management’s estimate 
of the amount needed to maintain the allowance for loan losses at an adequate level to cover known and inherent risks of loss in the loan 
portfolio. In determining the provision amount, management gives consideration to current and anticipated economic conditions, the growth 
and composition of the loan portfolio, the relationship of the allowance for loan losses to outstanding loans, delinquencies, loss trends, and 
other factors. Management believes that the allowance for loan losses is adequate. While management uses the best information available to 
make evaluations, future adjustments may be necessary if economic and other conditions differ substantially from the assumptions used.  

Management considers loans to be impaired when based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to 
collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors that influence management’s judgments  
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  •   securities held to maturity - reported at amortized cost,  
  •   trading securities - reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings, or;  

 
•   securities available-for-sale - reported at estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of 

comprehensive income (net of tax effect). 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

include, but are not limited to, loan payment pattern, source of repayment, and value of collateral, if any. A loan would not be considered 
impaired if an insignificant delay in loan payment occurs and management expects to collect all amounts due. The major sources of 
identification of loans to be evaluated for impairment include past due and non-accrual reports, internally generated lists of certain risk 
grades, and regulatory reports of examination. Impaired loans are measured using either the discounted expected cash flow method or the 
value of collateral method. When the ultimate collectibility of an impaired loan’s principal is in doubt, wholly or partially, all cash receipts are 
applied to principal. 

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to meet all payments as they 
become due. When the interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed and income is recognized only to the extent 
cash payments are received. 

(f) Foreclosed assets 

Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at the lower of fair value less costs to sell or 
carrying value at the date of foreclosure. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by management and the assets are 
carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is generally determined by appraisal.  

(g) Premises and equipment 

Premises and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over 
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets on the straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements are amortized over a term which 
includes the remaining lease term and probable renewal periods. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments are capitalized and those 
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operating expenses as incurred. 

(h) Income taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated 
financial statement carrying amount of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be 
recovered in income. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not than the tax benefits will not be 
realized. The implementation of FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, in 2007 did not have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash, due from banks and federal funds sold. The Company 
maintains due from accounts with correspondent banks. During the normal course of business, the Company may have cash deposits with 
these banks that are in excess of federally insured limits. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, interest-bearing deposits in other financial 
institutions amounted to $55,000 and $221,000, respectively. 

(j) Income per share 

Basic income per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted income per share 
includes the dilutive effects of stock options. 

(k) Stock options 

The Company has three stock option plans, a nonqualified plan for directors (Director Plan) and two incentive stock option plans for 
management and employees (Employee Plans). The plans provide for the issuance of options to purchase common shares of the Company. 
Under the plans, the exercise price of each option is equal to the fair value of the common stock on the date of grant. The 1997 Incentive 
Stock Option Plan expired on May 20, 2007, and the 36,420 remaining ungranted incentive options (post stock split) became the permitted 
incentive options under the new 2007 Incentive Stock Option Plan. The 2007 Incentive Stock Option Plan expires on April 17, 2008.  
The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, on January 1, 2006 under the modified prospective 
application method. The adoption of this statement did not impact the consolidated financial statements for 2006 since there were no 
outstanding unvested options as of the date of adoption or stock option grants during 2006. 

The fair value of options granted in 2007 under the Employee Plans was $178,000, of which 
$3,000 was expensed in 2007. As of December 31, 2007, there was $175,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested 
share-based compensation which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 4.9 years. No grants were made under the 
Director Plan in 2007 or 2006. 

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
weighted average assumptions for 2007: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 32%, risk-free interest rate of 3.90%, and weighted 
average expected lives of eight years. The weighted average fair value per share of options granted for the year ended December 31, 2007 
was $5.28. 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(k) Stock options (continued) 

Following is a summary of stock options outstanding under both plans, adjusted for the stock splits described in Note 11:  
 

At December 31, 2007, and 2006, all options under the Director Plan were exercisable at weighted average exercise prices of $4.73 and $5.20, 
respectively. Under the Employee Plans, exercisable options at 2007 and 2006, and were 237,801 and 238,101, respectively, with weighted 
average exercise prices of $7.68 and $7.69, respectively. 

The range of exercise prices at December 31, 2007 for the Director Plan was $4.73 and for the Employee Plans was $4.73—$11.65. The 
weighted average remaining contractual term for Director Plan options was 43 months and for the Employee Plans was 63 months.  
The aggregate intrinsic value of all stock options at December 31, 2007 was $147,000 for the Director Plan and $833,000 for the Employee 
Plans. The intrinsic value of exercisable options at December 31, 2007 was $147,000 for the Director Plan and $849,000 for the Employee Plans.  

(l) Fair value of financial instruments 

The assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments are detailed below. Where quoted prices are not 
available, fair values are based on estimates using discounted cash flows and other valuation techniques. The use of discounted cash flows 
can be significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate and estimates of future 
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      Director Plan    Employee Plans

      Shares    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
($000s)    Shares    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
($000s)

Balance at January 1, 2006    70,881    $ 5.20      240,371    $ 7.69  

Granted    —        —        —        —    
Exercised            (2,270)    8.48  

Forfeited    —        —        —        —    
Balance at December 31, 2006    70,881    $ 5.20      238,101    $ 7.69  

Granted    —        —        35,420      11.65  

Exercised    (48,274)    5.42      —        —    
Forfeited    —        —        (300)    10.41  

Balance at December 31, 2007    22,607    $ 4.73   $ 147   273,221    $ 8.20   $ 833

Exercisable at December 31, 2007    22,607    $ 4.73   $ 147   237,801    $ 7.68   $ 849
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Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(l) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

cash flows. The following disclosures should not be considered an indication of the liquidation value of the Company, but rather represent a 
good-faith estimate of the increase or decrease in value of financial instruments held by the Company since purchase, origination or 
issuance. 

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments:  
Cash and due from banks: The carrying amount approximates fair value. 

Securities available for sale and securities held to maturity: Fair values for debt securities are based on quoted market prices. Restricted stock 
is valued at cost except for Triangle Capital Corporation which is valued at its quoted market price. 

Loans held for sale: Fair values are based on commitment prices entered into to sell specific loans outstanding or on estimated commitment 
prices that could be obtained to sell loans if no commitment exists. 

Loans: For variable rate loans, fair values are based on carrying values. Fixed rate commercial, other installment, and certain real estate 
mortgage loans are valued using discounted cash flows. The discount rates used to determine the present value of these loans are based on 
interest rates currently being charged by the Company on comparable loans as to credit risk and term. 

Off-balance sheet instruments: The Company’s unfunded lines of credit and loan commitments are negotiated at current market rates and are 
relatively short-term in nature.  
Deposit liabilities: The fair values of demand deposits are equal to the carrying value of such deposits. Demand deposits include non-
interest bearing demand deposits, savings accounts, NOW accounts and money market demand accounts. Discounted cash flows have been 
used to value fixed rate and variable rate term deposits. The discount rate used is based on interest rates currently being offered by the 
Company on comparable deposits as to amount and term. 

Short-term borrowings: The carrying value of securities sold under agreements to repurchase approximate their fair value.  
Advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank: For variable rate advances, fair values are based on carrying values. Fixed rate advances are 
valued using discounted cash flows based on rates currently available to the Company on comparable borrowings with similar terms and 
remaining maturities. 

Federal funds purchased: Due to the short-term nature of these assets, the carrying value approximates fair value.  
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Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(l) Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

Junior subordinated debentures: The carrying value of junior subordinated debentures approximate their fair value, since the interest rate is 
variable on these debentures. 

Accrued interest: The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value. 

(m) Advertising 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. 

(n) Operating segments 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information, in June 1997, which established standards for the way public business enterprises report information about operating segments. 
The Corporation is considered to have two principal business segments in 2007, the Commercial/Retail Bank and the Wholesale Mortgage 
Division. The Wholesale Mortgage Division began originating home mortgage loans through third parties and selling these loans to 
investors in late 2007. The Company had only one operating segment prior to 2007. Financial performance for 2007 and selected balance 
sheet information at December 31, 2007 for each segment is as follows: 
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      2007

     
Commercial/Retail

Bank   
Wholesale

Mortgage Division   Total
     (in thousands)

Interest income    $ 32,617   $ 74   $ 32,691
Interest expense      18,454     66     18,520
Net interest income      14,163     8     14,171
Provision for loan losses      1,162     —       1,162
Net interest income after provision for loan losses      13,001     8     13,009
Non-interest income      1,468     261     1,729
Non-interest expense      9,724     203     9,927
Income before income taxes      4,745     66     4,811
Income tax expense      1,762     25     1,787
Net income    $ 2,983   $ 41   $ 3,024

Total Assets    $ 488,098   $ 12,018   $500,116
Net loans      396,252     11,869     408,121
Equity      29,599     41     29,640
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Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(o) Retail repurchase agreements 

Funds are borrowed on an overnight basis through retail repurchase agreements with bank customers. Retail repurchase agreements are 
collateralized by securities of the U.S. Government or by mortgage backed securities issued by quasi governmental agencies. The market 
value of collateral pledged for retail repurchase agreements is monitored by the Company to equal or exceed the balances borrowed.  

(p) Impact of recently adopted accounting standards 

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments, an amendment of FASB 
Statements No. 133 and 140, which simplifies accounting for certain hybrid financial instruments by permitting fair value remeasurement for 
any hybrid bifurcation and eliminates a restriction on the passive derivative instruments that a qualifying special-purpose entity may hold. 
The provisions of this statement were effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal 
year that begins after September 15, 2006. The adoption of FAS No. 155 did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company. 

In June 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140. This 
Statement amends SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, a 
replacement of FASB Statement 125 with respect to the accounting for separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities. The 
provisions of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 156 did not have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which establishes a framework for measuring fair value in 
generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value as the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction for financial statements issued for fiscal 
years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this new standard did not have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of 
FASB Statement No. 109, which establishes that the financial statement effects of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return 
are to be recognized in the financial statements when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the position will be 
sustained upon examination. FIN 
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Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(p) Impact of recently adopted accounting standards (continued) 

48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

In February 2007, The FASB issued FASB Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities- 
including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115. This standard permits an entity to choose to measure many financial instruments and 
certain other items at fair value. While most of the provisions are elective, the amendment to FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for 
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, applies to all entities with available-for-sale and trading securities. The fair value option 
established by statement No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. A business 
entity will generally report the change in unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at 
each subsequent reporting date. The fair value option: (a) may be applied instrument by instrument, with a few exceptions, such as 
investments otherwise accounted for by the equity method; (b) is irrevocable (unless a new election date occurs); and (c) is applied to entire 
instruments and not to portions of instruments. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 with earlier 
adoption permitted if the decision to do so is made within the first 120 days of that earlier fiscal year. The adoption of this statement is not 
expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

 

39 



Table of Contents

CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 2 – Securities  
A summary of the amortized cost and estimated fair values of securities available-for-sale and held- to-maturity follows:  
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Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized

Gains   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses   

Estimated
Fair

Value
     (in thousands)

December 31, 2007            

Available for sale            

U.S. agency obligations    $ 8,847   $ 88   $ 15   $ 8,920
Municipal securities      7,252     10     91     7,171
FNMA, FHLMC, and GNMA mortgage-backed securities      38,455     309     115     38,649
Corporate securities      1,882     9     —       1,891
Restricted stock      2,761     —       88     2,673

   $ 59,197   $ 416   $ 309   $ 59,304

Held to maturity            

U.S. agency obligations    $ 1,799   $ —     $ 8   $ 1,791
FNMA and GNMA mortgage-backed securities      1,334     1     41     1,294

   $ 3,133   $ 1   $ 49   $ 3,085

     
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized

Gains   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses   

Estimated
Fair

Value
     (in thousands)

December 31, 2006            

Available for sale            

U.S. agency obligations    $ 26,581   $ 16   $ 260   $ 26,337
FNMA, FHLMC, and GNMA mortgage-backed securities      43,625     142     264     43,503
Restricted stock      1,214     —       —       1,214

   $ 71,420   $ 158   $ 524   $ 71,054

Held to maturity            

U.S. agency obligations    $ 1,799   $ —     $ 46   $ 1,753
FNMA and GNMA mortgage-backed securities      1,838     —       74     1,764

   $ 3,637   $ —     $ 120   $ 3,517
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Note 2 – Securities (continued)  
 

The scheduled maturities of debt securities held to maturity and available for sale at December 31, 2007 were as follows:  
 

There were no sales of securities and no realized gains from called or sold securities during 2007 and 2006. 

At December 31, 2007, securities with a carrying value of approximately $13,205,000 were pledged to secure public deposits and for other purposes.  

Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment at least quarterly. Consideration is given to the length of time and the extent 
to which the fair values have been less than amortized cost, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the security issuers, and the intent 
and ability to retain impaired investments for a period to allow recovery in fair value. 

At December 31, 2007, debt securities with $19,581,000 in fair value had total unrealized losses of less than 2% of amortized cost. These securities 
were U.S. agency obligations, municipal securities, GNMA, FNMA and FHLMC mortgage-backed securities, and restricted stock. As management 
has the ability and intent to hold these debt securities until maturity, no declines are deemed to be other-than-temporary.  
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      Available for Sale    Held to Maturity

     
Amortized

Cost   

Estimated
Fair

Value   
Amortized

Cost   

Estimated
Fair

Value
          (in thousands)     

Due in one year or less    $ 5,987   $ 5,999   $ 1,799   $ 1,791
Due from one to five years      1,440     1,485     —       —  
Due from five to ten years      1,420     1,436     

Over ten years      9,134     9,062     —       —  
Mortgage-backed securities      38,455     38,649     1,334     1,294

   $ 56,436   $ 56,631   $ 3,133   $ 3,085
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Note 2 – Securities (continued)  
 

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2007 and 2006, by category and length of time that individual 
securities have been in a continuous loss position, follows: 
 

Note 3 - Loans and allowance for loan losses  
Loans at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows: 
 

 

42 

      Less Than 12 Months    12 Months or Greater    Total

     
Fair

Value   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses   
Fair

Value   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses   
Fair

Value   

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
     (in thousands)

December 31, 2007:                  

U.S. agency obligations    $ —     $ —     $ 3,775   $ 23   $ 3,775   $ 23
Municipal securities      4,909     91     —       —       4,909     91
FNMA, FHLMC, GNMA mortgage backed securities      —       —       10,471     156     10,471     156
Restricted stock      426     88     —       —       426     88

Total    $ 5,335   $ 179   $14,246   $ 179   $19,581   $ 358

December 31, 2006:                  

U.S. agency obligations    $ 3,997   $ 3   $21,667   $ 303   $25,664   $ 306
FNMA, FHLMC, GNMA mortgage backed securities      9,839     22     14,605     316     24,444     338

Total    $13,836   $ 25   $36,272   $ 619   $50,108   $ 644

      2007     2006  
     ( in thousands)  

Real estate - construction    $ 71,513    $ 65,427 
Real estate - mortgage      256,923      188,001 
Commercial      68,127      58,421 
Installment and other      4,384      4,120 

Total loans      400,947      315,969 
Less: Deferred loan fees, net      (163)    (237)

Allowance for loan losses      (4,532)    (3,898)
   $396,252    $311,834 
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Note 3 - Loans and allowance for loan losses (continued)  
 

The activity in the allowance for loan losses for 2007 and 2006 is summarized as follows: 
 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the total recorded investment in impaired loans amounted to approximately $3,541,000 and $2,388,000, respectively. 
These loans were also on non-accrual. The average recorded investment in impaired loans amounted to $3,254,000 and $3,328,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Loans ninety days or more past due and still accruing interest amounted to $465,000 and $0 at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The allowance for loan losses related to impaired loans was $447,000 at December 31, 2007 and $433,000 
at December 31, 2006. There was no interest income recognized on impaired loans for 2007 and 2006. 

The Company has made loans in the ordinary course of business to certain directors and executive officers of the Company and to their affiliates 
and associates. The total amount of such loans was $12,179,000 and $11,224,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. During 2007, 
$11,098,000 in new loans were made and repayments were $10,143,000. These loans were made on substantially the same terms, including interest 
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other borrowers. 
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     2007     2006  
     ( in thousands)  

Balance at beginning of year    $3,898    $3,210 
Provision charged to operations      1,162      1,196 
Loan charge-offs      (548)    (547)
Loan recoveries      20      39 
Balance at end of year    $4,532    $3,898 
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Note 4 - Premises and equipment  
Premises and equipment at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows: 
 

Interest capitalized was $34,000 and $14,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Depreciation expense was $483,000 in 2007 and $403,000 in 2006.  

Note 5 - Other investments and Impairment of non-marketable equity security  
During 2003, the Company subscribed to the Triangle Mezzanine Fund (the “Fund”), a limited partner investment company. The Company’s initial 
subscription was $500,000. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had invested $514,000 and $500,000 with the Fund, respectively. The 
Fund became a public company in 2007 and was valued for and carried at $426,000 under securities available-for-sale at December 31, 2007. The 
Fund assumed the name of Triangle Capital Corporation with stock symbol, TCAP, as a public company. Prior to 2007, the investment was 
included at cost under other assets. 

The Company also invested $305,000 in September 2004 in the initial stock offering of Community Trust Company of the Southeast, Inc., a North 
Carolina trust bank, which offers trust and investment services to clients of community banks. During 2007 it was determined that the fair value of 
the investment was less than the original cost and that the decline in value was other than temporary. The investment was written down $100,000 
by an impairment charge against 2007 earnings and has been included in other assets. 

Note 6 - Deposits  
The aggregate amount of certificates of deposit with a minimum denomination of $100,000 was $97,514,000 and $85,714,000 at December 31, 2007 
and 2006, respectively. 

The Company has accepted deposits during the ordinary course of business from certain directors and executive officers of the Company and from 
their affiliates and associates. The total amount of these deposits outstanding was $7,313,000 and $6,894,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. 
 

44 

     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Land    $ 3,824    $ 3,760 
Building and improvements      6,542      4,705 
Leasehold improvements      414      406 
Furniture and equipment      3,080      2,389 
Construction in progress      2,092      931 
Land improvements      497      109 

     16,449      12,300 
Less accumulated depreciation      (2,657)    (2,222)
Premises and equipment, net    $13,792    $10,078 
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Note 6 - Deposits (continued)  
 

At December 31, 2007, the scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows: 
 

Note 7 - Advances from Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta  
The Company had the following advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006: 
 

These advances are secured by the Company’s FHLB stock and a blanket floating lien on the Company’s one-to-four family residential and 
commercial real estate loan portfolios. Outstanding loan balances of approximately $148 million were pledged to the Federal Home Loan Bank at 
December 31, 2007. The contractual maturities of these advances are as follows: 
 

Credit availability for additional advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank was $18,389,000 at December 31, 2007. The Company also had 
$18,700,000 in federal funds borrowing accommodations from two Banks, of which $2,650,000 was outstanding at December 31, 2007.  
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     (in thousands)

2008    $ 214,192
2009      7,130
2010      1,595
2011      1,698
2012      290
Thereafter      —  

   $ 224,905

     2007    2006
     ( in thousands)

Fixed rate advance at 6.05%    $ 3,000   $3,000
Fixed rate advance at 4.52%      15,000     —  
Variable rate advances at 4.40% (overnight)      13,000     —  
Variable rate advances - one month LIBOR minus .01%      —       5,300
Amortizing fixed rate advance at 1.00%      581     608

   $31,581   $8,908

     (in thousands)

2008    $ 28,028
2009      29
2010      3,030
2011      31
2012      32
Thereafter      431

   $ 31,581
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Note 8 – Junior subordinated debentures  
In December 2004, the Company issued $10,310,000 of unsecured junior subordinated debentures which carry a floating interest rate of three 
month LIBOR plus 2%. The proceeds from the sale of the debentures were used to repay $3,100,000 of unsecured junior subordinated debentures 
which were issued in March 2001 and were used to fund projected loan growth. 

These debentures were issued to Carolina Capital Trust (“Carolina Trust”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which is not consolidated 
in these consolidated financial statements pursuant to FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidated Variable Interest Entities. Carolina Trust 
acquired these debentures using the proceeds of its offerings of common securities to the Company and $10 million of Trust Preferred Securities to 
outside investors. The Trust Preferred Securities, which qualify as Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital under Federal Reserve Board guidelines, accrue and pay 
interest quarterly at three month LIBOR (4.26% at December 31, 2007) plus 2% per annum. The Company has entered into contractual arrangements 
which, in the aggregate, constitute a full, irrevocable and unconditional guarantee on a subordinated basis by the Company of the obligations of 
Carolina Trust under the Trust Preferred Securities. 

The Trust Preferred Securities are redeemable upon maturity of the debentures on January 7, 2035, or upon earlier redemption as provided in the 
indenture. The Company has the right to redeem the debentures purchased by Carolina Trust in whole or in part, on or after January 7, 2010.  

Note 9- Income taxes  
The provision for income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following for the year ended December 31: 
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     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Current     

Federal    $1,588    $1,512 
State      389      333 

     1,977      1,845 
Deferred     

Federal      (162)    (233)
State      (28)    (38)

     (190)    (271)
   $1,787    $1,574 
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Note 9 - Income taxes (continued)  
 

A reconciliation of reported income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 to the amount of tax expense computed by 
multiplying income before taxes by the statutory federal income tax rate of 34% follows: 
 

The primary components of deferred income taxes are as follows: 
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     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Tax provision at statutory rate    $1,636    $1,491 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from     

State income taxes net of federal benefit      238      195 
Increase in cash value of life insurance      (139)    (117)
Other      47      5 

   $1,782    $1,574 

     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Deferred tax assets     

Allowance for loan losses    $1,474    $1,279 
Deferred compensation expense      394      315 
Other      (2)    (7)
Unrealized loss on securities      —        124 

Gross deferred tax assets      1,866      1,711 
Deferred tax liabilities     

Depreciable basis of premises and equipment      159      142 
Deferred loan costs      251      174 
Unrealized gain on securities      36      —   

Gross deferred tax liabilities      446      316 
Net deferred tax assets    $1,420    $1,395 
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Note 10 – Stockholders’ equity  
The Board of Directors has declared 6-for-5 stock splits effected in the form of 20% stock dividends payable to stockholders of record as of June 
2007 and November 2005. As a result, $544,000 and $453,000 were reclassified from additional paid-in capital to common stock in 2007 and 2005, 
respectively. Per share amounts for all periods presented have been restated to reflect the effect of these stock splits.  

Note 11 - Regulatory matters  
Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on dividends paid and loans or advances made by the Bank to the Holding 
Company. The total amount of dividends, which may be paid at any date, is generally limited to the retained earnings of the Bank. In addition, 
dividends paid by the Bank to the Holding Company would be prohibited if the effect would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below 
applicable minimum regulatory capital requirements. Loans or advances are generally limited to 15 percent of the Bank’s common stock and surplus 
on a secured basis. 

The Holding Company and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to 
meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possible additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, 
could have a direct material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory 
framework for prompt corrective action, the Holding Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative 
measures of the Company’s and the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting 
practices. The Company’s and the Bank’s capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators as to 
components, risk weighting, and other factors. Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies.  

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Company and the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and 
ratios (set forth in the table below) of total and Tier 1 capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier 1 
capital to average assets (as defined). At December 31, 2007 and 2006, management believes that the Company and the Bank have met all capital 
adequacy requirements to which they are subject. 

As of December 31, 2007, the most recent notification from the FDIC categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for 
prompt corrective action. To be categorized as well capitalized the Bank must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, and Tier 1 
leverage ratios as set forth in the table. There have been no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed 
the Bank’s category. The Company’s and the Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are presented in the table 
that follows. 
 

48 



Table of Contents

CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 11 - Regulatory matters (continued)  
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     Actual    

For Capital
Adequacy
Purposes    

To Be Well
Capitalized

Under
Prompt

Corrective
Action Provisions  

     Amount    Ratio     Amount    Ratio    Amount    Ratio 
                ($ in thousand)             

December 31, 2007:                

Total Capital                

(To risk weighted assets)                

Consolidated    $44,101   10.00%  $35,269   ³ 8%  $44,086   ³ 10%
Carolina Bank      44,062   10.00%    35,244   ³ 8%    44,055   ³ 10%

Tier 1 Capital                

(To risk weighted assets)                

Consolidated      39,425   8.94%    17,634   ³ 4%    26,452   ³ 6%
Carolina Bank      39,530   8.97%    17,622   ³ 4%    26,433   ³ 6%

Tier 1 Capital                

(To average assets)                

Consolidated      39,425   8.14%    19,363   ³ 4%    24,203   ³ 5%
Carolina Bank      39,530   8.17%    19,347   ³ 4%    24,184   ³ 5%

December 31, 2006:                

Total Capital                

(To risk weighted assets)                

Consolidated    $40,069   11.45%  $27,994   ³ 8%  $34,993   ³ 10%
Carolina Bank      37,970   10.87%    27,945   ³ 8%    34,932   ³ 10%

Tier 1 Capital                

(To risk weighted assets)                

Consolidated      34,894   9.97%    13,997   ³ 4%    20,996   ³ 6%
Carolina Bank      34,072   9.75%    13,973   ³ 4%    20,959   ³ 6%

Tier 1 Capital                

(To average assets)                

Consolidated      34,894   8.76%    15,937   ³ 4%    19,921   ³ 5%
Carolina Bank      34,072   8.61%    15,837   ³ 4%    19,796   ³ 5%
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 12 – Commitments  
Operating leases 

The Company leases land for a future main office currently under construction, a branch facility, and an ATM site under operating leases entered 
into during 2006, 1996 and 2005, respectively. A 2005 lease for temporary quarters until a new branch office was completed in 2007 has been 
terminated and has no future minimum lease payments. Total future minimum lease payments, excluding renewal options, at December 31, 2007, 
under the leases are as follows: 
 

Total lease expense was approximately $281,000 in 2007 and $210,000 in 2006. 

Loans 

In the normal course of business there are outstanding commitments for the extension of credit which are not reflected in the financial statements. 
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, pre-approved but unused lines of credit for loans totaled approximately $99,276,000 and $86,160,000. In addition, 
the Company had $6,224,000 and $7,189,000 in standby letters of credit at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These commitments represent 
no more than the normal lending risk that the Bank commits to its borrowers. If these commitments are drawn, the Company will obtain collateral if 
it is deemed necessary based on management’s credit evaluation of the counterparty. Management believes that these commitments can be 
funded through normal operations. 
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     ( in thousands)

2008    $ 164
2009      165
2010      160
2011      140
2012      149
Thereafter      3,588

   $ 4,366
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 13 - Employee benefit plans  
All employees of the Company who meet certain eligibility requirements can elect to participate in the Bank’s 401(k) plan. Participants may make 
voluntary contributions resulting in salary deferrals in accordance with Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code and the plan documents. The 
Company makes a 100% matching contribution up to a maximum of six percent of compensation which is vested immediately. The Company’s 
matching expense was $219,000 in 2007 and $175,000 in 2006. 

In 2003, the Company established a nonqualified deferred compensation plan under which directors may elect to defer their directors’ fees. 
Participating directors receive an additional 25% matching contribution for monthly board meetings and the amounts deferred are invested solely 
in Company stock that is held in a rabbi trust. The Company stock held by the trust and the related deferred compensation liability are recorded at 
an amount equal to the original compensation deferred. Changes in the fair value of the stock are not recognized in the Company’s financial 
statements. At December 31, 2007, deferred directors’ fees of $524,000 had been used to purchase 50,714 shares of the Company’s stock held by 
the trust after distribution of 28,802 shares to retiring directors. Deferred directors’ fees of $23,000 were also remitted to the trust before 
December 31, 2007 to buy stock in 2008. Prior to 2003, directors could elect to defer their fees however there was no separate trust, matching 
provision or investment in Company stock. 

During December 2002, the Company added a supplemental executive retirement plan for certain executive officers. The future benefits of the plan 
will be funded primarily by life insurance policies on these employees with the Company designated as the beneficiary. Expenses were $134,000 in 
2007 and $119,000 in 2006 related to this plan. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, other liabilities include $498,000 and $364,000, respectively, for this 
supplemental retirement plan. The cash surrender value of the related insurance policies has been included in other assets.  
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 14 - Fair value of financial statements  
The following represents the estimated fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments at December 31: 
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     2007    2006

    
Carrying
Amount   

Estimated
Fair Value  

Carrying
Amount   

Estimated
Fair Value

     (in thousands)    (in thousands)

Financial Assets:            

Cash and due from banks    $ 5,022   $ 5,022   $ 4,983   $ 4,983
Securities available for sale      59,304     59,304     71,054     71,054
Securities held to maturity      3,133     3,085     3,637     3,517
Net loans held for sale      11,869     11,869     —       —  
Net loans      396,252     399,008     311,834     310,657
Accrued interest receivable      2,414     2,414     2,255     2,255

Financial Liabilities:            

Demand and savings deposits      193,668     193,668     194,108     194,108
Time deposits      224,905     225,838     166,307     165,457
Federal Home Loan Bank advances      31,581     31,735     8,908     9,007
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase      3,452     3,452     2,031     2,031
Federal funds purchased      2,650     2,650     1,574     1,574
Trust preferred securities      10,310     10,310     10,310     10,310
Accrued interest payable      2,059     2,059     1,492     1,492
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 15 - Income (loss) per common share (EPS)  
The reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic income (loss) per share and diluted income per share computation at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 follows: 
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Income

(Numerator)  
Shares

(Denominator)  

Per
Share

Amount 
     (in thousands)  

2007         

Basic income per share:         

Income available to common stockholders    $ 3,024   3,280,315   $ 0.92 
Effect of dilutive securities         

Stock options      —     122,396     (0.03)
Diluted income per share:         

Income available to common stockholders and assumed conversions    $ 3,024   3,402,711   $ 0.89 

2006*         

Basic income per share:         

Income available to common stockholders    $ 2,811   3,265,558   $ 0.86 
Effect of dilutive securities         

Stock options      —     117,512     (0.03)
Diluted income per share:         

Income available to common stockholders and assumed conversions    $ 2,811   3,383,070   $ 0.83 

* Restated for the 6-for-5 stock split in 2007. 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 16 – Condensed financial statements of parent company  
Financial information pertaining to Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. is as follows: 
 

 

54 

Condensed Balance Sheet  

     December 31,  
     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Assets:   

Cash    $ 144    $ 1,176 
Securities available-for-sale      —        999 
Investment in Carolina Capital Trust      310      310 
Investment in Carolina Bank      39,600      33,831 
Other assets      73      98 

Total assets    $ 40,127    $ 36,414 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity:   

Accrued expenses    $ 177    $ 175 
Junior subordinated debentures      10,310      10,310 
Stockholders’ Equity      29,640      25,929 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $ 40,127    $ 36,414 

Condensed Statement of Operations  

     Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006  
     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Interest income    $ 93    $ 120 
Interest expense      766      744 
Other expense      118      120 

Total expense      884      864 
Income tax benefit      268      253 

(Loss) before equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries      (523)     (491)
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries      3,547      3,302 

Net income    $ 3,024    $ 2,811 
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CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Note 16 – Condensed financial statements of parent company (continued)  
 

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 
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     2007     2006  
     (in thousands)  

Operating activities:   

Net income    $ 3,024    $ 2,811 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used by) provided by operating activities:     

Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries      (3,547)    (3,302)
Stock compensation expensed      3      —   
Change in other assets      25      (90)
Change in accrued expenses      2      24 

Net cash used by operating activities      (493)    (557)
Investing activities:   

Purchase of securities available for sale      —        (1,000)
Repayments from securities available for sale      1,000      2,205 
Investment in subsidiaries      (1,800)    —   

Net cash provided by (used by) investing activities      (800)    1,205 
Financing activities:   

Proceeds from stock options      261      19 
Net cash provided by financing activities      261      19 

Net change in cash      (1,032)    667 
Cash at beginning of year      1,176      509 
Cash at end of year    $ 144    $ 1,176 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:   

Cash paid during the year for interest    $ 767    $ 720 
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There have been no changes in or disagreements with accountants. 

ITEM 9A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

At the end of the period covered by this report, the company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the 
company’s management, including the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and 
operation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-14.  

Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective (1) to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the company in the reports filed or 
submitted by it under the Securities Exchange Act was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC’s rules and forms, and (2) to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the company in such reports is 
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to 
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company. The company’s 
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the company’s financial statements 
for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Management has made a comprehensive review, 
evaluation and assessment of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making its assessment of internal 
control over financial reporting, management used the criteria issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(“COSO”) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. In accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes–Oxley Act of 2002, management makes the 
following assertions: 

Management has implemented a process to monitor and assess both the design and operating effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting. 

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can 
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. 

The company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In 
making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on that assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2007, the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting is effective based on those criteria. 

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over 
financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary 
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.  
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the company has evaluated, with the participation of the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, changes in 
the company’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter 
of 2007. In connection with such evaluation, the company has determined that there have been no changes in internal control over financial 
reporting during the fourth quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. 

 

None. 

PART III 
 

Incorporated by reference to pages 4-10 of the Proxy Statement.  

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies, among others, to our principal executive officer and principal financial officer. Our Code of Ethics 
is available to any person, without charge, upon written request submitted to T. Allen Liles, Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc., 528 College Road, 
Greensboro, North Carolina 27410. 

 

Incorporated by reference to pages 6-7 and 10-14 of the Proxy Statement  
 

Incorporated by reference to pages 3-4 of the Proxy Statement.  

In 1997, the Bank’s shareholders approved the Carolina Bank 1997 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan for Directors (the “1997 Nonqualified Plan”) and 
the Carolina Bank 1997 Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Incentive Plan”). Both plans were adopted by us upon our organization as the 
bank’s holding company. The 1997 Nonqualified Plan provided for the issuance of up to 135,420 shares (as adjusted for stock dividends) of our 
common stock upon the exercise of options granted under the Plan. All options authorized under the Nonqualified Stock Option Plan have been 
granted. There were no stock options granted to members of our Board of Directors during the year ended December 31, 2007.  

The maximum number of options to purchase shares of our common stock available for grant under the 1997 Incentive Plan was 135,420 (as 
adjusted for stock dividends). An amendment to the 1997 Incentive Plan increasing by 100,000 the number of shares available for issuance upon 
the exercise of stock options granted under the plan was approved by the shareholders at the 2003 annual meeting, bringing the total number of 
options to purchase shares of our stock available under such plan to 256,849 (as adjusted for stock dividends). Both the 1997 Nonqualified Plan 
and the 1997 Incentive Plan expired on May 20, 2007. Stock options previously granted under the 1997 plans will remain outstanding following 
May 20, 2007 and will expire pursuant to their original contractual terms. 

Of the authorized options under the 1997 plans, 22,607 remained outstanding under the Nonqualified Plan and 237,801 remained outstanding under 
the Incentive Plan at December 31, 2007. 

At the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders of the company approved the 2007 Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “2007 
Incentive Plan”). The 2007 Incentive Plan originally provided for the issuance of options to purchase up to 36,420 shares (as adjusted for stock 
dividends) of our common stock. The 2007 Incentive Plan expires on April 17, 2008, after which date no further options to purchase shares of our 
common stock may be granted 
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ITEM 9B: OTHER INFORMATION 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS. 
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pursuant to such plan. Of the authorized options under the 2007 Incentive Plan, 35,420 were granted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2007 and remained outstanding as of December 31, 2007. 

Option exercise prices under all of our stock option plans are established at market value on the date of grant. 

The following chart contains details of all prior grants under the 1997 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, the 1997 Incentive Stock Option Plan and 
the 2007 Incentive Stock Option Plan: 
 

 

Incorporated by reference to pages 6 and 14 of the Proxy Statement. 

 

Incorporated by reference from pages 15-16 of the Proxy Statement.  
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Plan Category   

Number of securities
to be issued upon exercise of

outstanding options
(a)   

Weighted-average 
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(b)   

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders

   Nonqualified – 22,607   $ 4.73   -0-
   1997 Incentive – 237,801     7.68   -0-
   2007 Incentive – 35,420     11.65   1,000

Equity compensation
plans not approved
by security holders    None     N/A   None

Total    295,828   $ 7.93   1,000

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE. 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES. 
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PART IV 
 

 

 

Report of independent registered public accounting firm 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

None 
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES. 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report: 

  1. Financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: 

  2. Financial statement schedules required to be filed by Item 8 of this Form: 

  3. Exhibits 

3(i)   Articles of Incorporation of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (1)

3(ii)   Bylaws of the Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (1)

4   Indenture(6)

10(i)

 

Employment Agreement between the Bank and Robert T. Braswell, dated May 21, 1996, a management 
contract(2)

10(ii)   Employment Agreement between the Bank and T. Allen Liles, dated July 24, 2001, a management contract(3)

10(iii)   1997 Incentive Stock Option Plan, a compensatory plan(4)

10(iv)   1997 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, a compensatory plan(4)

10(v)

 

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Executive Agreement between Carolina Bank and Robert T. 
Braswell, a compensatory plan(5)

10(vi)

 

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Executive Agreement between Carolina Bank and T. Allen Liles, a 
compensatory plan(5)

10(vii)

 

Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Executive Agreement between Carolina Bank and Gunnar N.R. 
Fromen, a compensatory plan(5)

10(viii)

 

Life Insurance Endorsement Method Split Dollar Plan Agreement Between Carolina Bank and Robert T. 
Braswell(5)
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10(ix)

 

Life Insurance Endorsement Method Split Dollar Plan Agreement Between Carolina Bank and T. Allen Liles
(5)

10(x)

 

Life Insurance Endorsement Method Split Dollar Plan Agreement Between Carolina Bank and Gunnar N.R. 
Fromen(5)

10(xi)   Carolina Bank Directors’ Deferral Plan, a compensatory plan(5)

10(xii)   Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Carolina Capital Trust(6)

10(xiii)   Guarantee Agreement(6)

10(xiv)

 

Employment Agreement between the Bank and Daniel D. Hornfeck, dated March 13, 2007, a management 
contract(7)

10(xv)   2007 Incentive Stock Option Plan, a compensatory plan(8)

21   Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23   Consent of Cherry, Bakaert & Holland, L.L.P.

31(i)   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

31(ii)   Certification of Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

32(i)   Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

99   Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders(9)

(1) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-KSB of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed April 2, 2001 with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.). 

(2) Previously filed on Form F-1 of Carolina Savings Bank SSB, Inc. with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation for the year ended 
December 31, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference. 

(3) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-QSB of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed November 9, 2001 with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission). 

(4) Incorporated by reference to Form S-8 of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed May 11, 2000 with the Securities and Exchange Commission). 

(5) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-KSB of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed March 28, 2003 with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission). 

(6) Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed January 4, 2005 with the Securities and Exchange Commission). 

(7) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-KSB of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed March 23, 2007 with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission). 

(8) Incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (Filed July 27, 2007 with the Securities and Exchange Commission). 

(9) As filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 14a-6(b). 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by 
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
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 CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC.
(Registrant)

By:  /s/ Robert T. Braswell
 Robert T. Braswell
 President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 24, 2008
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In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities 
and on the dates indicated. 
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/s/ Robert T. Braswell
Robert T. Braswell
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ Gary N. Brown
Gary N. Brown
Vice Chairman   

March 24, 2008

/s/ George E. Carr
George E. Carr
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ Marlene H. Cato
Marlene H. Cato
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ John D. Cornet
John D. Cornet
Chairman of the Board of Directors   

March 24, 2008

/s/ James E. Hooper
James E. Hooper
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ J. Alexander S. Barrett
J. Alexander S. Barrett
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ Kenneth C. Mayer, Jr.
Kenneth C. Mayer, Jr.
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ T. Gray McCaskill
T. Gray McCaskill
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ Julius L. Young
Julius L. Young
Director   

March 24, 2008

/s/ D. Wayne Thomas
D. Wayne Thomas
Director   

March 23, 2008

/s/ T. Allen Liles
T. Allen Liles
Secretary, Treasurer and
Principal Accounting Officer   

March 24, 2008
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EXHIBIT INDEX
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(Back To Top) 

Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF 
CAROLINA BANK HOLDINGS, INC.

Carolina Bank 
(North Carolina chartered banking corporation) 

Carolina Capital Trust 
(Delaware statutory trust) 

(Back To Top) 

Exhibit
Number   Exhibit    Page Number

3(i)   Articles of Incorporation    *

3(ii)   Bylaws    *

4   Indenture    *

10(i)   Employment Agreement of Robert T. Braswell    *

10(ii)   Employment Agreement of T. Allen Liles    *

10(iii)   1997 Incentive Stock Option Plan    *

10(iv)   1997 Nonqualified Stock option Plan    *

10(v)   Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Executive Agreement between Carolina Bank and Robert T. Braswell    *

10(vi)   Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Executive Agreement between Carolina Bank and T. Allen Liles    *

10(vii)   Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan Executive Agreement between Carolina Bank and Gunnar N.R. Fromen    *

10(viii)   Life Insurance Endorsement Method Split Dollar Plan Agreement Between Carolina Bank and Robert T. Braswell    *

10(ix)   Life Insurance Endorsement Method Split Dollar Plan Agreement Between Carolina Bank and T. Allen Liles    *

10(x)   Life Insurance Endorsement Method Split Dollar Plan Agreement Between Carolina Bank and Gunnar N.R. Fromen    *

10(xi)   Carolina Bank Directors’ Deferral Plan    *

10(xii)   Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Carolina Capital Trust    *

10(xiii)   Guarantee Agreement    *

10(xiv)   Employment Agreement of Daniel D. Hornfeck    * 

10(xv)   2007 Incentive Stock Option Plan    *

21   Subsidiaries of the registrant    Filed herewith

23   Consent of Cherry, Bakaert & Holland, L.L.P.    Filed herewith

31(i)   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.    Filed herewith

31(ii)   Certification of Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.    Filed herewith

32(i)   Certifications Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.    Filed herewith

99   Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders    **

* Incorporated by reference. 

** As filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 14a-6(b). 

Section 2: EX-21 (SUBSIDIARIES) 



 
 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors 
Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-60750, 333-105765, and 333-146396) of Carolina 
Bank Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary of our report dated March 17, 2008, related to the audits of the consolidated financial statements of Carolina 
Bank Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2007, which 
report is included in the December 31, 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiary.  

/s/ Cherry, Bekaert & Holland, L.L.P. 

Charlotte, North Carolina 
March 26, 2008 
(Back To Top) 

Exhibit 31(i)

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
I, Robert T. Braswell, certify that: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: EX-23 (CONSENT OF CHERRY, BAKAERT & HOLLAND 
LLP)

Section 4: EX-31.(I) (CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER)

  1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (the “registrant”); 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 
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Exhibit 31(ii)

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
I, T. Allen Liles, certify that: 
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a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Date:  March 24, 2008     By:  /s/ Robert T. Braswell
        Robert T. Braswell
        President and Chief Executive Officer

Section 5: EX-31.(II) (CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 
OFFICER)

  1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (the “registrant”); 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have: 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Date:  March 24, 2008     By:  /s/ T. Allen Liles
        T. Allen Liles
        Chief Financial and Principal Accounting Officer

Section 6: EX-32.(I) (CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 906) 



Exhibit 32(i)

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  
The undersigned hereby certifies that, to his knowledge, (i) the Form 10-K filed by Carolina Bank Holdings, Inc. (the “Issuer”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2007, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and (ii) the information 
contained in that report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer on the dates and for 
the periods presented therein. 
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Date:  March 24, 2008     /s/ Robert T. Braswell
      Robert T. Braswell
      President and Chief Executive Officer

Date:  March 24, 2008     /s/ T. Allen Liles
      T. Allen Liles

     

Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer


